1940

State of Utah v. Paul Olson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/uofu_sc1



Part of the [Law Commons](#)

Original Brief submitted to the Utah Supreme Court; funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services through the Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library, and sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Lawrence A. Miner; Attorney for Appellant;

Recommended Citation

Brief of Appellant, *Utah v. Olson*, No. 6241 (Utah Supreme Court, 1940).
https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/uofu_sc1/660

This Brief of Appellant is brought to you for free and open access by BYU Law Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965) by an authorized administrator of BYU Law Digital Commons. For more information, please contact hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu.

6241

In The *Original*
SUPREME COURT
of the
STATE OF UTAH

STATE OF UTAH,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

PAUL OLSON,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. 6241.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Lawrence A. Miner,

Attorney for Appellant.

FILED
DEC 13 1940

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF UTAH

STATE OF UTAH,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

PAUL OLSON,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. 6241

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Statement.

This is an appeal from the Fourth Judicial District Court of the State of Utah in and for Duchesne County. The defendant was charged in an Information filed by the District Attorney with the crime of carnal knowledge committed upon the body of one Ruth Dhanens. The jury returned a verdict of guilty, and the defendant was sentenced by the

court to serve a term of from one to five years in the State Penitentiary.

The first Assignment of Error relied upon by the defendant for a reversal of said judgment has to do with the alleged error of the trial court in sustaining an objection to a question put to one of the witnesses for the defendant, in which the witness was asked, "Do you know ~~what~~ the general reputation of Ruth Dhanens is for truth and veracity in the neighborhood where she resides?". The objection being that the question was incompetent irrelevant, and immaterial. The Ruth Dhanens mentioned in the question was the prosecutrix.

The second alleged assignment of error has to do with the alleged error of the trial court in denying an offer made by the defendant to prove by certain other witnesses for the defendant that such other witnesses would testify that the general reputation of the prosecutrix

for truth and veracity in the community in which she then resided and in the community in which she had previously resided was bad. These two assignments of error will be argued together.

We assert that the rule of law is that the credibility of any witness is always in issue or at least may be made an issue by either party and particularly is this true in a criminal case.

It is always the duty of a jury to ascertain and determine the credibility of witnesses even though the opposite party has offered nothing to contradict the testimony. All the tests of credibility should be applied to learn the exact truth in the matter.

We submit that the best way to ascertain the truthfulness of a charge such as the one made against this defendant in this case is to determine if possible whether the prosecutrix has told the truth. So that if it can be ascertained that the general reputation of the prosecutrix for truth and veracity is either good or bad, the jury is entitled to hear such testimony, and to

the ultimate truth with respect to the alleged charge is. This being the case it is clear that it was prejudicial error on the part of the trial court to refuse the defendant the right to go into the question of the general reputation of the prosecutrix for truth and veracity.

The trial court seems to have been confused because of the fact that under the charge made in the Information the jury had the right to convict the defendant upon the uncorroborated testimony of the prosecutrix, and because of the further fact that the defendant was precluded from offering any evidence as to what the reputation of the prosecutrix was for chastity. The trial court seems to have been under the impression that because the prosecutrix under the law was not an accomplice with the defendant and therefore need not be corroborated that the jury were entitled to consider her testimony without regard as to whether she was telling the truth.

This Court in the case of the State vs.

defendant was charged with carnal knowledge of a female such as we have in this case, stated on page 75 "the Statute under which the defendant was convicted was adopted to protect young girls between the ages of thirteen and fifteen years regardless of whether such girls are chaste or unchaste. Their characters or moral tendencies respecting the prohibited acts are wholly immaterial. OF COURSE, THAT DOES NOT PREVENT THE DEFENDANT IN SUCH A CASE FROM ASSAILING THE GENERAL REPUTATION OF THE PROSECUTRIX FOR TRUTH AND VERACITY." This court in the same case held that the trial court did not err in permitting a witness for the State to testify as to the general reputation of the prosecutrix for truth and veracity over an objection raised by the defendant.

See also State vs. Baretta, 47 Utah, 479, wherein it was held that "where witnesses who live in the same vicinity stated that they knew the general reputation of defendant, who was charged with larceny, for honesty and integrity they ar

to defendant's

good reputation for honesty.

We also cite the case of State vs. Hilberg 22 Utah 27, wherein this Court in the Syllabus uses this language: "Where the crime charged is sexual intercourse with a prosecutrix under the age of consent, the intercourse constituted the offense whether she consented or not, and her good or bad character or chastity, as affecting the crime charged was not in issue, but her general reputation for truth and veracity was."

In the case of State vs. Marks 16 Utah 204, this Court held "That in impeaching the credibility of a witness, the inquiry must be confined to the general reputation of the witness in the locality referred to." That is exactly what was sought to be accomplished in the question put to defendant's witness, and to which objection there-to was sustained by the trial court.

The court in the case last cited took occasion to point out just how the examination of a witness should be conducted for the purpose of testing the credibility of a witness sought to be impeached. and suggested the following

good reputation for honesty.

to also give the case of State vs. Miller

as Utah 24, wherein this Court in the syllabus

uses this language: "Where the crime charged

and intercourse with a prostitute under the

of consent, the intercourse constituted the

of a whether and consented or no, and her

good or bad character or chastity, as affecting

of the charged was not in issue, but her

total reputation for truth and veracity was.

In the case of State vs. Miller, Utah 24,

the Court held that in impeaching the credibility

of a witness, the inquiry must be confined to

the general reputation of the witness.

That is exactly what was

be accomplished in the question now be

ing a witness, and to which objection there

was sustained by the trial court.

The Court in the case just cited took

occasion to point out that for the examination

there should be conducted for the purpose

form of questioning -- "Do you know what the general reputation of John Doe is for truth and veracity in the neighborhood where he resides?" If the question is answered in the affirmative the next question will be, "What is that reputation, good or bad?". If the answer is bad, the further question may be put: "From that reputation would you believe him under oath in a matter in which he is personally interested?"

In view of the offered testimony in the interested case and its rejection by the court, it is manifest that the defendant was greatly prejudiced by the ruling of the court, because in this case, there was a total lack of evidence tending to corroborate the prosecutrix. It was a case merely of the testimony of the Prosecutrix against that of the defendant. So that if the jur had been permitted to receive testimony that the general reputation of the prosecutrix for truth and veracity was bad, it is very likely that their verdict would have been in favor of the defendant.

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

We now come to the third and fourth Assignments of Error which have to do with the refusal of the trial court to give defendant's requested Instruction No. 1, and the failure of the trial court to give any cautionary instruction to the jury. The language of this court in the case of State vs. Hilberg, supra, is pertinent. This language is found on page 39, and reads as follows: "We do not overlook the danger attending prosecutions under this act. The rules of law governing trials under this statute are more stringent and less flexible than those applicable in other criminal cases. An accusation under this statute is easily made. The offense, if committed, is generally in secret. The general character of the prosecutrix cannot be attacked. Specific acts of unchastity on her part cannot be shown. Her testimony as in many other cases where she may be an accomplice does not require corroboration in order to obtain full credit, and the woman who participates in the act is not criminally liable therefor. Under such circumstances the charge when made is hard

to disprove and difficult to defend against no matter how innocent the accused may be. While the protection of the honor and chastity of young women is of paramount importance to the state and every effort should be made to fully care for and protect it, yet in such prosecutions full latitude should be given the accused to discover the truth by cross-examination and otherwise, so as to enable him to defend against any unjust accusation."

We admit that defendant's requested instruction No. 1 is not very artfully drawn but we submit that in view of the requested instruction, the trial court should have given a cautionary instruction on its own account, even if it could not give the instruction as requested.

The giving of a cautionary instruction by the court would have been very desirable and would have been a distinct help to the jury, and particularly would this have been true had

the court admitted the evidence offered by the defendant touching the probability of the

prosecutrix, and referred to in Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 2. It would have been proper for the court to have given an instruction in substantially the following form, to-wit:

"You are instructed that while it is the rule of law that the defendant may be convicted in a case like this, upon the uncorroborated testimony of the prosecutrix, still you are instructed that you should always act upon such testimony with great care and caution, and subject it to careful examination in the light of all other evidence in the case, and particularly is this rule applicable in cases of this character where the charge is easily made and hard to defend against, and you ought not to convict upon such testimony alone, unless, after a careful examination of such testimony you are satisfied beyond all reasonable doubt that it is true."

The propriety and necessity of giving such instruction as the one suggested above in this class of cases is supported by a number of American decisions. Some courts hold however,

that the giving of such instruction is improper because it states no rule of law, but is a mere argument, and constitutes an invasion of the province of the jury.

We cite the following cases in support of these Assignments of Error:

People vs. Benson, 6 Cal. 221, 65 Am.Dec.506;

Cennere vs. State, 47 Wis. 523, 2 NW 1143;

Reynolds vs. State 27 Neb. 90, 42 NW 903; and

20 Am. State Rep. 659;

People vs. Rangod 112 Cal. 669, 44 Pac. 1071 .

This last case holds that the giving of such instruction in a case where the testimony of the prosecutrix is corroborated by other evidence is improper.

This court in the case of State vs. Rutledge 227 Pac. 479 held that the refusal to give such instruction was not error, but in giving its reasons for so holding pointed out the following facts which obtained in that case, namely: 1 - That the case at bar did not rest upon the sole testimony of the prosecutrix.

2- That her testimony was supported by other material facts and circumstances proved by other witnesses.

3- That it was shown that for several months previous to the time of the offense charged the defendant had been paying regular attention to the prosecutrix, visiting with her at her home, and taking her out riding with him on numerous occasions; that he represented himself as unmarried, and conducted himself as a suitor; that he was seen on a previous occasion in an automobile with his arm around the prosecutrix; that he was with the prosecutrix on the day in question; that after the alleged offense the defendant approached the parents of the prosecutrix and offered to "settle the matter by payment of money and marrying the girl."

We submit that in the instant case there is a total lack of any evidence such as that pointed out in the case last cited, with the sole exception of evidence to the effect that the defendant was in the presence of the prosecutrix

on the day in question. So it would seem to us that in view of what this court said in the case of State vs. Ruthledge, supra, it was error for the trial court in the instant case to refuse and fail to give a cautionary instruction.

For the trial court to give its stock instruction to the effect that the jury was the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses which included the prosecutrix was not sufficient, and particularly in view of the fact that the trial court refused the defendant the right that was his to impeach the credibility of the prosecutrix by showing that her general reputation for truth and veracity was bad.

We come now to our final Assignment of Error, to the effect that the trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion for a new trial, particularly in view of ground No. 3 of said motion, which was, "That the jury had been guilty of misconduct by which a fair and due consideration of the case may have been prevented." Of

course we are aware of the general rule of law

which holds that a juror may not impeach the verdict by his own affidavit.

This court in the case of State vs. Mellor 73 Utah 104, 272 Pac. 635, has held that the granting or refusing a new trial for a juror's misconduct is discretionary with the trial court and will not be reviewed unless abused.

In the case just cited the record showed that the alleged misconduct of the juror consisted of his going to sleep several times for short intervals, but that he was fully aware of all the testimony that was offered, and that he fully understood all the testimony. In the instant case however it appears from the affidavit of the juror, Fred O. Palmer, in support of the Motion for a New Trial, that said juror was the foreman of the jury which tried and convicted the defendant; that he never was at any time convinced that the defendant was guilty of the charge for which the defendant was on trial; that he held out for a verdict of not guilty

as long as his health and strength would permit; that he was not well, being afflicted with a serious heart ailment, and that he was under a doctor's care; that when he gave his vote for guilty in this case there was a doubt in his mind as to the guilt of the defendant; that he would have continued to vote not guilty if it had not been that he was in such a weakened condition, and feared for his own life if he had to continue longer in such deliberation as was being conducted by the said jury; that there is still at this time (the date of the affidavit, October 6, 1939) a doubt in his mind as to the defendant being guilty of the crime for which the jury returned the verdict of guilty.

It seems to us that the conduct detailed by said affidavit constitutes misconduct as defined by the express language of the statute as grounds for a new trial. Section 103-39-3 Subdivision 3 of the R.S. Utah, 1933, reads as follows: "When the jury has separated without leave of the court after retiring to deliberate

upon their verdict, OR HAVE BEEN GUILTY OF ANY CONDUCT BY WHICH A FAIR AND DUE CONSIDERATION OF THE CASE MAY HAVE BEEN PREVENTED."

When a juror states in effect that he was forced or impelled to join with other jurors because he feared for his life if he had to continue further deliberations with the jury and for that reason abandoned his convictions with respect to the defendant's guilt in order that he could conclude his services as a juror and get to his doctor for treatment, he is to our way of thinking, guilty of the worst kind of misconduct. Of course he could have advised the court of his condition, and the court would probably have made arrangements for him to get medical attention, and then permit him to give further consideration to the case. But because he did not adopt the orderly and consistent way of handling the matter should not be visited upon the head of the defendant.

We have made a search of the cases and have been unable to find a case in point, but even so, it does seem to us that this sort of misconduct should be held by this court to constitute such misconduct on the part of a juror as would entitle the defendant to a new trial, and that the failure of the trial court to grant defendant's motion for a new trial should be held to be an abuse of discretion.

Respectfully submitted,

Lawrence A. Mmiller
Atty for Appellant

Received a copy of the above and foregoing Brief
this 19 day of December 1940.

Joseph Chay
Attorney General.
by

Joseph S. Calder
Deputy Attorney General.

ALPHABETICAL INDEX OF CASES CITED IN
THIS BRIEF.

Connere vs. State

47 Wis 523, 2 N.W. 1143

People vs. Benson

6 Cal 221, 65 Am. Dec. 506

People vs. Rangod

112 Cal 669, 44 Pac 1071

Reynolds vs. State

27 Neb. 90, 42 N.W. 903

20 Am. St. Rep. 659

State vs. Marks

16 Utah 204

State vs. Barretta

47 Utah 479, 155 Pac 343

State vs. Burns

51 Utah 73, 168 Pac. 955

State vs. Hilberg

22nd Utah 27

State vs. Mellor

73 Utah 104, 272 Pac. 635

State vs. Rutledge

63 Utah 546, 227 Pac. 479