1941

State of Utah v. Paul Olson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT I

The defendant's first argument is in support of his first and second assignments of error which relate to the exclusion of evidence as to the reputation of the complaining witness for truth and veracity. The State recognizes the fact that this court in the case of *State vs. Hilberg*, 28 Utah 27, and in the case of *State vs. Burns*, 51 Utah 73, held, in a prosecution for carnal knowledge, that although the reputation of the complaining witness for chastity was not in issue, testimony might be given as to her general reputation for truth and veracity in the community where she resides. The statement of the trial court in this case that this is bad law and should be changed is submitted for the decision of this court without argument.

Whether or not testimony as to the complaining witness's reputation for truth and veracity should generally be received in evidence, the testimony offered in this case was properly rejected because of the fact that the witnesses called to testify in this matter were never properly qualified. The only witness who was placed on the stand for the purpose of qualifying her testimony in this regard was Mrs. Julia A. Lewis. She testified that Ruth Dhanens had lived at her place for more than a year, but had left about nine months preceding the trial of the action and that she had not been around "much" since that date. In order to qualify a witness, who testifies to the general reputation of truth and veracity of another witness, it must be shown that such witness has a knowledge of the general reputation of the person sought to be impeached at a time near enough to the time of trial to throw some light upon the reliability of the testimony given by the witness who is being impeached.

70 C. J. 828 says in this regard:

"The inquiry as to the character or reputation of a witness affecting credibility relates primarily to the time when he testifies. While the view has been expressed that impeaching testimony as to the character or reputation of a witness should be directed to the time of trial or of the giving of testimony by such witness, or to reasonable period prior thereto, or should be confined to the reputation of such witness at or about the time when he testifies, there is no definite limit as to the time prior to the time of trial to which the impeaching testimony may refer; the determination in this regard depends largely on the facts of the particular case."

On page 831 of the same volume the following appears:

“The question as to what period the impeaching testimony should refer is largely within the discretion of the trial court.”

In this case Mrs. Lewis's knowledge of the truth and veracity of the complaining witness, whatever it may have been, was based upon an acquaintance which ended some nine months previous to the trial. In the case of an adult whose character is matured, this would not be too remote a time from the time of trial to have some bearing on the reliability of testimony given by the complaining witness. However, it must be remembered that the complaining witness in this case is a fifteen-year old girl whose character is in a formative stage, who is developing rapidly, and in whom a change could take place in a period of nine months or a year.

Whether or not the time regarding which the testimony as to truth and veracity is being taken is near enough to the time of trial is a matter, as stated above, which depends on the particular facts of the case and upon the discretion of the trial judge. In this case the time appears too remote to cast much light upon the reliability of Miss Dhanens' testimony and the trial court was within its right in excluding such testimony on this ground, whether or not it was right in excluding it upon the ground that the reputation of the complaining witness was not in issue.

Even if the testimony of Mrs. Lewis and the other witnesses who were called to testify as to the truth and veracity of the complaining witness, but who were never qualified to testify was improperly rejected, the ruling of

the trial court in rejecting such evidence would not prejudice the substantial rights of the defendant in this case. While the only direct evidence as to the occurrence of the act of intercourse is the testimony of the complaining witness, herself, there is a wealth of circumstantial evidence which corroborates the occurrence of this act. The testimony of all the defense witnesses who testified as to the occurrences on the night of July 30, including the testimony of the defendant, himself, supports the story of the complaining witness up to and including the point where the opportunity for the commission of the act occurred. Furthermore, the fact that an actual act of sexual intercourse by some person with the complaining witness did occur, sometime during the evening or early morning, is conclusively established by the testimony of Dr. Hegsted.

The only question left open is: Did the complaining witness have sexual intercourse with Walter Baese, with the defendant, Paul Olson, or with both? Her testimony is that she had it with both. This is the story which she told the officers and the doctor on the early morning of July 31, immediately after she returned from Duchesne, and it is the story which she told on the witness stand.

That she would have invented this story on the spur of the moment and stuck to it over this length of time is unthinkable. The facts which surround the occurrence lend as much support to her story as if she were corroborated by a dozen actual witnesses to the act of intercourse. The complaining witness could not be proud of the fact that she had had sexual intercourse with two men in one evening. Every natural tendency would be to conceal the fact that she had had intercourse at all, and then when fright drove

her to reveal the facts to her parents and to the officers, her natural tendency would be to minimize the thing as much as possible and not to invent additional men who had taken advantage of her during the evening and early morning. It is even conceivable that had she had intercourse with one man she might have tried to lay the blame on another because of some attachment she might have for the guilty party; but there is no possible or conceivable motive which could have existed for her to reveal the name of the man who had taken advantage of her and then try to implicate, in addition, a man who was innocent. The credibility of her testimony does not here rely upon her character for truth and veracity but upon the facts surrounding her story. There are circumstances under which the word of even the most habitual liar cannot be doubted.

ARGUMENT II

Defendant's argument number 2 is in support of his third and fourth assignments of error. The third assignment of error relates to the refusal of the trial court to give defendant's requested instruction, number 1, which is a cautionary instruction directing the jury that in view of the type of case they should scrutinize the testimony of the complaining witness with unusual care. The fourth assignment of error charges that the trial court, if it refused the defendant's cautionary instruction number one, should have given a cautionary instruction of its own.

The matter of the need for a special cautionary instruction in cases such as the one now being considered has been considered by a number of courts in the United States,

among them this court. A few decisions, among them *People vs. Benson*, 6 Cal. 221, *Connors vs. State*, 47 Wis. 623, and *Reynolds vs. State*, 42 N. W. 903, have held that such a cautionary instruction should be given in cases of this kind where the prosecution relies entirely upon the testimony of the complaining witness.

The majority opinion, however, and the opinion which is followed by this court in *State vs. Shaw*, 59 Utah 536, and in *State vs. Rutledge*, 63 Utah 546, is that the general instruction given regarding credibility of witnesses is sufficient. This view is also followed by numerous other courts, among them the Supreme Court of California in *People vs. Rangod*, 44 Pac. 1071, and *Loose vs. State*, (Wis.) 79 N. W. 526. The latest expression of a court of final resort in the United States appears to be in the case of *Stran vs. State* (Wyoming) 252 Pac. 1030, which case cites with approval the holding of this court in *State vs. Rutledge* and holds that failure to give such a cautionary instruction is not error.

The defendant in his brief attempts to distinguish the case of *State vs. Rutledge* from the case at issue in that he claims the decision in that case was made on the basis that the State did not rely upon the evidence of the complaining witness alone but that her evidence was corroborated, whereas he claims in this case that situation does not exist. A comparison of the facts in the two cases clearly shows, however, that this attempt at distinction is not well founded. In both cases the evidence of the actual commission of the act of intercourse depends solely upon the evidence of the complaining witness. The only corroborating

evidence in the case of State vs. Rutledge is evidence of a circumstantial nature which is not nearly so strong as the circumstantial evidence which we have in this case. In that case it was shown that the defendant had courted the prosecutrix and had taken her out riding on several occasions, that he had represented himself as unmarried, that he had been seen on one occasion with his arm around the girl, that he had been seen with the girl at about the time the act had occurred, and that he had later tried to settle the matter by payment of money or by marrying the girl. In the case at bar we have the actual admission of the defendant that he was with the complaining witness at the time the act occurred at the place she claimed the act had occurred, that no one else was with them, that no one saw them, and that all of the conditions existed as alleged by the complaining witness, except as to the act of intercourse itself.

We further have the evidence in this case that the defendant had been drinking and that the complaining witness had also been drinking, and most telling of all we have the evidence given by the doctor that she actually had had sexual intercourse at about the time she claimed. Under these facts, we have in this case much stronger corroborating evidence than we had in State vs. Rutledge. In that case the court said:

“The weight of authority is that such instructions are improper because they state no rule of law but are mere arguments and constitute an invasion of the province of the jury.”

The court then cites numerous decisions from other states to support this position.

Instructions numbers 10 and 12 given to the jury by the trial court in this case fully inform the jury regarding the credibility of witnesses and regarding the degree of proof necessary to convict the defendant. Any additional instruction would have been surplusage and, as stated by the court in *State vs. Rutledge*, mere argument.

ARGUMENT III

In his third argument, the defendant charges that the trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion for a new trial on the ground that the jury had been guilty of misconduct, by which a fair and due consideration of the case may have been prevented. In support of this motion, the defendant introduced an affidavit from one of the jurors to the effect that this juror had concurred in the verdict rendered in the case only because of the fact that he was in poor health, and had to have a doctor's attention and could not hold out longer; but that he was not and never had been convinced beyond a reasonable doubt of the guilt of the defendant.

It is strange, in view of the defendant's admission, that the court is aware of the general rule of law which holds that a juror may not impeach his own verdict by affidavit, that he could ever have assigned this error. This case is so clearly within the general rule that it requires little comment.

Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, 104-40-2, lists among the grounds for a motion for a new trial the following:

“Misconduct of the jury; and whenever any one or more of the jurors have been induced to

assent to any general or special verdict, or to a finding on any question submitted to them by the court, by resort to a determination by chance, such misconduct may be proved by the affidavit of any one of the jurors."

This statute has been interpreted by numerous Utah cases to hold that affidavits of jurors will be received to show that a verdict was reached by chance *but for no other purpose*.

See *People vs. Richie*, 12 Utah 180; *Black vs. Rocky Mountain Bell Telephone Company*, 26 Utah 451; *People vs. Flynn*, 7 Utah 378.

In the case of *Ogden L. & I. Railroad Company vs. Jones, et. al.*, 51 Utah 62, the same question, with which we are here confronted, was presented. There the court said:

"It is elementary that a juror may not be heard to impeach his own verdict. If that were permitted, one, or perhaps more, of the jurors could be found in every case who for the sake of appeasing the wrath or soothing the feelings of the losing party would disclose something, for which it could be claimed the verdict should be set aside. Indeed, a juror or even a number of them might agree to a verdict with that end in view. The law, therefore, wisely provides that a juror may not disclose facts which would go in impeachment of his verdict."

In treating the contention of the appellant that the affidavit should not be rejected because it was not objected to by counsel in the lower court, the court goes on to say:

"The evidence contained in the affidavits, however, was not admissible upon the ground of sound public policy. The district court was, therefore,

bound to disregard the evidence although no objection was interposed thereto by respondent's counsel. Indeed, in the case of *Siemens vs. Oakland Railway Company*, the Supreme Court of California reversed an order of the trial court granting a new trial which was based upon such evidence. The Supreme Court of California held that the evidence could not be considered for the reason that it was against public policy, and upon that ground alone reversed the order granting a new trial."

Under the ruling of this court in the case of *State vs. Mellor*, 74 Utah 104, to the effect that the order of a trial court granting or refusing a new trial is discretionary and will not be reviewed unless such discretion is abused, there is certainly no reversible error on this point. In fact, quite the contrary, as there was not one iota of competent evidence before the court in support of this motion for a new trial, if the court had granted it, under holding of the court in *Ogden L. & I. Railroad Company vs. Jones*, supra, the granting of the motion would have constituted an abuse of discretion and reversible error. For other cases holding that a juror cannot impeach his own verdict by affidavit see *Bryan vs. Mancrief Finance Company*, (Ga.) 149 S. E. 424; *Jordan vs. St. Joseph Ry. Light, Heating & Power Company*, (Mo.) 73 S. W. (2d) 205; *Newton vs. Brassfield*, (N. C.) 152 S. E. 499; *Schnalz vs. Arnwin* (Ore.) 246 Pac. 718.

An examination of the record can leave little doubt of the guilt of the defendant in this case. The facts which were proved by undisputable evidence lends such staunch corroborating support to the story told by the complaining witness that the mind is forced to but one conclusion. The

defendant was given every right which could possibly be granted for him to prove his innocence, but the jury, after fair deliberation, found him guilty.

The State submits that this verdict should not be disturbed.

Respectfully submitted,
GROVER A. GILES,
Attorney General.
CALVIN L. RAMPTON,
Assistant Attorney General.
Attorneys for Plaintiff
and Respondent.